FDLI'S FOOD and DRUG POLICY FORUM

Rethinking the FDA's Food/Supplement Framework

Michael Gruver

Senior Associate, Kaye Scholer LLP

Glenn Poqust

Special Counsel, Kaye Scholer LLP

VOLUME 4, ISSUE 4 // APRIL 2, 2014

THE FOOD AND DRUG LAW INSTITUTE 1155 15TH STREET NW. SUITE 800 // WASHINGTON, DC 20005 www.fdli.org



INFORMATION FOR SUBSCRIBERS AND PURCHASERS

License Agreement (the "Agreement") and Terms of Use for End Users of FDLI Digital Publication Product Services (the "Services")

THIS IS AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN YOU, (THE "END USER"), AND THE FOOD AND DRUG LAW INSTITUTE ("FDLI"). FDLI IS THE PROVIDER OF THE SERVICES THAT PERMIT END USERS, (LIMITED TO FDLI MEMBERS OR NONMEMBER SUBSCRIBERS OR PURCHASERS OR OTHERS AS DETERMINED BY FDLI) TO LICENSE DIGITAL PUBLICATION PRODUCTS (THE "DIGITAL PUBLICATION PRODUCTS") FOR END USER USE ONLY UNDER THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT. PLEASE READ THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT AND TERMS OF USE, AND ALL RULES AND POLICIES FOR THE SERVICES (INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY RULES OR USAGE PROVISIONS SPECIFIED ON THE FDLI WEBSITE) BEFORE USING THE PRODUCTS. BY USING THE PRODUCTS, YOU AGREE TO BE BOUND BY THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT.

Digital Publication Products

FDLI website: The FDLI website enables the End User to download this Digital Publication Product to a personal computer or personal handheld device solely for personal use.

Use of Digital Publication Products: Upon your payment of the applicable fees, FDLI grants you the non-exclusive right to retain a permanent copy of the applicable Digital Publication Product and to view, print and use such Digital Publication Product an unlimited number of times, solely for your personal, non-commercial use.

Restrictions: The End User agrees that Digital Publication Products contain proprietary material that is owned by FDLI, and is protected by United States copyright laws. For reprint permissions or distribution inquiries, contact FDLI at (202) 371-1420.

For subscription or purchasing information, visit www.fdli.org.

Disclaimer

The Food and Drug Law Institute, founded in 1949, is a non-profit organization that provides a marketplace for discussing food and drug law issues through conferences, publications and member interaction. The views, opinions and statements expressed in this article are those of the author(s). The Food and Drug Law Institute neither contributes to nor endorses Forum articles. As a not-for-profit 501(c)(3) organization, FDLI does not engage in advocacy activities.

©2014 FDLI

All rights reserved. ISSN pending.

Authorization to photocopy items for internal or personal use of specific clients is granted by the Food and Drug Law Institute, provided that the base fee of US \$.75 per page is paid directly to the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC), 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA. For those organizations that have been granted a photocopy license by CCC, a separate system of payment has been arranged. The fee code for users of the Transactional Reporting Service is: ISSN pending 02.75.

To order additional copies of this publication, please visit our website at www.fdli.org.



1155 15th Street NW, Ste. 800, Washington, D.C. 20005 Tel: (202) 371-1420; Fax: (202) 371-0649 email: comments@fdli.org website: www.fdli.org www.fdli.org

FDLI'S FOOD AND DRUG POLICY FORUM

Michael D. Levin-Epstein, JD, MEd

Editor-in-Chief

Elizabeth A. Stevulak, JD

Editor

FDLI'S FOOD AND DRUG POLICY FORUM

Sheila D. Walcoff (Chair)

Goldbug Strategies, LLC

Victoria W. Girard (Vice Chair)

Georgetown University

Christina L. Anderson Medtronic, Inc.

Brendan Benner

Medical Device Manufacturers Association

James Boiani

Epstein Becker & Green P.C.

Thomas Cluderay

Environmental Working Group

Eric Feldman

University of Pennsylvania

Paul A. Franz

The Procter & Gamble Company

Robert L. Guenther

United Fresh Produce Association

Jennifer J. Hillman

University Health System

Mary Clare Kimber

Plasma Protein Therapeutics Association

Beth A. Krewson

Incyte Corporation Experimental Station

Barbara A. Binzak Blumenfeld (Board Liaison)

Buchanan Ingersoll & Rooney, PC

Erik R. Lieberman

Food Marketing Institute

Gary C. Messplay

Hunton & Williams, LLP

Kirsten Paulson

The Pew Charitable Trusts

Peter Pitts

Center for Medicine in the Public Interest

Lori M. Reilly

PhRMA

Robert Rosado

Food Marketing Institute

Mark I. Schwartz

The Food and Drug Administration,

Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research

Alan Traettino

Stryker Corporation

Pamela Wilger

Cargill, Inc.

Lisa Ann Zoks

Drug Information Association

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ١. | Introduction1 | |
|-----|---|--|
| | Policy Recommendations2 | |
| 11. | Foods vs. Supplements: The Basic Distinction2 | |
| . | Why the Food/Supplement Distinction Matters3 | |
| IV. | It is Not What You Make but How You Sell It4 | |
| | Α. | Labeling and Advertising Claims4 |
| | В. | Representations Outside of Labeling and Advertising4 |
| | C. | Product Name5 |
| | D. | Packaging5 |
| | E. | Serving Size and Recommended Daily Intake5 |
| | F. | Recommendations and Directions for Use5 |
| | G. | Marketing Practices6 |
| | Н. | Composition6 |
| V. | Guidance or a Recipe for Confusion?7 | |
| VI. | It is Time to Eliminate the Food/Supplement Distinction | |
| | Endnotes8 | |
| | About the Authors10 | |
| | About the Food and Drug Policy Forum11 | |
| | About FDLI11 | |

Rethinking the FDA's Food/Supplement Framework

INTRODUCTION

In January 2014, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) released a new guidance for industry titled: "Distinguishing Liquid Dietary Supplements from Beverages." Concerned about an "increase in the marketing of liquid products with a wide array of ingredients and intended uses," the FDA issued this new guidance to "help dietary supplement and beverage manufacturers and distributors determine whether a product in liquid form is properly classified as a dietary supplement or as a beverage." Underpinning this concern is a growing sensitivity by the FDA that a significant number of liquid products may be misbranded as dietary supplements due to the fact that their labeling and promotional materials make representations that are more consistent with traditional beverages.

The new guidelines are a curious form of "guidance", setting forth an eight factor test meant to answer the fundamental question of whether Product X is a supplement or a traditional beverage but never articulating a definitive basis from which a manufacturer could make such a determination. For example, in their attempt to identify the most important factors in determining a product's proper category, the guidelines pay little attention to the actual composition of the product, with the overwhelming focus on how a product is marketed, labeled, or positioned in the marketplace. Indeed, a liquid product's composition — what the product is actually made of — is just one among eight purportedly equal factors in the FDA's test, with all of the remaining factors focused on claims made about the product or the manner in which it is sold. Against this background, the time is right to question whether the FDA's current distinction between foods and dietary supplements continues to best serve both public and industry interests.

The FDA should seriously consider eliminating food/supplement distinction all together, and developing a comprehensive set of regulations that will apply uniformly to products now considered either foods or supplements. For example, rather than maintaining the distinction between "Nutrition Facts" and "Supplement Facts" in product labeling, it could be more helpful to develop a single ingredient disclosure scheme that would cover all products now considered either foods or supplements.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

If eliminating the food/supplement distinction is too radical a change, the FDA should at a minimum develop guidance that establishes a truly meaningful distinction between foods and supplements. Any such guidance would need to do at least the following:

- Take an overall approach that if foods and supplements are to be the subject of two different sets of regulations, the distinction between the two categories should be fundamental. In other words, the goal should be to properly define what is a food and what is a supplement, and avoid defining the two types of products solely in relation to each other.
- Place significant weight on concrete factors such as the composition of a product or recommended daily intake and require the "Fact" panels for foods and supplements to provide the same categories of information so that consumers can easily determine the differences between drinks that are "foods" compared to those that are "supplements."
- Reduce emphasis on elastic factors such as marketing strategy or product placement.
- Provide clear guidance on how any factors are to be weighed against one another.

The clarity of either eliminating the food/supplement distinction, or truly making that distinction apparent, can only benefit everyone involved — manufacturers, consumer, and regulators.

II. FOODS VS. SUPPLEMENTS: THE BASIC DISTINCTION

As might be expected, the Food Drug and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) definitions of food and dietary supplement are vague and not particularly useful. Beverages are considered traditional foods under the FDCA, which is to say that a product is a beverage if it is "used for food or drink for man or other animals." By contrast, a dietary supplement, in addition to containing one or more of certain listed ingredients such as amino acids, vitamins, herbs, or other "dietary substance for use by man to supplement diet," is defined in the negative; as a product "not represented for use as a conventional food or as a sole item of a meal or the diet."

The broad principle to take from these definitions, which can be seen throughout the new guidelines and the FDA's overall consideration of the issue, is that beverages serve the basic purposes of the human diet, consumed for nutrition, hydration, or taste. Supplements, on the other hand, are a

compliment to the nutrition obtained from consuming foods and beverages. To navigate this divide, a manufacturer trying to decide if a product is a food or supplement in the eyes of the FDA should begin by asking: "Why is the consumer supposed to eat or drink this product?" The answer to this question is perhaps the most significant factor in determining the proper classification for any product under the FDA's guidelines.

III. WHY THE FOOD/SUPPLEMENT DISTINCTION MATTERS

While the FDA treats both foods and supplements similarly in some respects — neither must undergo safety or efficacy testing as drugs do — the distinction between the two yields several significant differences in how they are treated under the law and FDA regulations. While neither foods nor supplements may claim to treat, diagnose, or cure a disease, supplements must include a disclaimer on their label saying exactly that.⁴ This indicates an apparent belief by the FDA that supplements are perceived by consumers as more "drug like", a view that is supported by a provision of the FDCA that forbids marketing a dietary supplement when the same substance has been the subject of a substantial clinical development program aimed at drug approval.⁵ This provision is designed to keep failed drugs from reaching the market, re-imagined as dietary supplements, while no similar provision applies to foods or beverages. Moreover, like drug makers, manufacturers of supplements are required to report adverse events associated with their products to the FDA.⁶

Supplements and foods are subject to different labeling requirements. Although supplements must list dietary ingredients in a "Supplement Facts" panel without any indication of the Recommended Daily Intake, dietary ingredients cannot be included in the "Nutrition Facts" panel required for food and beverage products. Similarly, while the Nutrition Facts panel requires that certain nutrients not present in a particular product be listed with a zero value, nutrients not contained in a dietary supplement may not be included in a Supplement Facts panel, even with a zero value.⁷

Supplements and foods are also treated differently under the FDA's Generally Recognized as Safe (GRAS) criteria. Food additives require premarket approval by the FDA unless they qualify as GRAS.8 Otherwise, the FDA considers the food adulterated. While the ingredients contained in dietary supplements similarly cannot adulterate a product, they do not have to be GRAS for their intended use in a supplement. This difference can have considerable impact on the allowable composition of foods and supplements, with respect to additives such as caffeine. Caffeine is GRAS up to .02% of a beverage, which effectively caps the amount of caffeine that can be added to a beverage.¹⁰ However, if a liquid product qualifies as a supplement, there is no .02% GRAS restriction, meaning that a liquid supplement — such as an energy drink — is not subject to any limitation on its caffeine content. This particular aspect of the food/supplement distinction has come to the forefront over the last year as energy drinks specifically have been the subject of regulatory scrutiny and even litigation over their caffeine content. It is no accident, therefore, that on the same day that the FDA issued the new guidelines on distinguishing supplements from beverages, it issued a separate guidance to cover dietary ingredients added to traditional foods, stating: "Substances that have been present in the food supply for many years are now being added to beverages and other conventional foods in excess of their traditional use levels. This trend raises guestions regarding whether these new uses are unapproved food additive uses."11

Clearly, then, there is real significance to a manufacturer in terms of how they may formulate, market, or label a product based on whether it qualifies as a food or supplement for regulatory purposes. Following the latest guidance and making sure that a product properly fits into the category where the manufacturer seeks to place it, is of great importance — otherwise there is a real risk that the FDA will consider the product misbranded.

IV. IT IS NOT WHAT YOU MAKE BUT HOW YOU SELL IT

According to the FDA's recent guidelines, there are eight factors to consider in evaluating whether a liquid product can properly claim to be a beverage or a dietary supplement. Whether a product is a supplement or a beverage depends on the overall balance of the factors, but the guidelines themselves do not provide any real sense of how these factors should be balanced or perhaps more important, would be interpreted by the FDA or a court. Is it as simple as counting how many favor a beverage versus how many favor a supplement? Or is it really a qualitative analysis, in which the outcome of a minority of critical factors could tip the balance one way or the other? No reliable answer is apparent in the latest Guidance, but an analysis of each of the factors individually is an informative approach to discerning what the FDA considers vital in answering the food or supplement question.

A. Labeling and Advertising Claims

The key inquiry for this factor, consistent with the overall food/supplement distinction, is whether the product is advertised as providing some form of nutrition on its own, or whether it merely claims to enhance diet. A liquid product that claims to "refresh" or rehydrate" would probably qualify as a food even if it had no other nutritional value because rehydration is the primary purpose of most beverages. The import of claims in deciding where a product falls may turn on comparison to other products. For example, a supplement that was advertised as tasting better than Pepsi or Coke would likely be considered a beverage under this factor, by virtue of the comparison to well-established beverages. Dispositive claims can also include visuals, such as showing a supplement being poured over a green salad as a claim that it is intended for use as salad dressing, a food.

B. Representations Outside of Labeling and Advertising

This factor deals with claims made about a product in publicly available documents, such as filings with the Patent and Trademark Office or the Securities and Exchange Commission. These claims are likely far less important in the total calculus of factors than advertising claims directed at a broader audience. Still, if a manufacturer marketed its product as a beverage while holding a patent on it as a novel nutritional supplement, that would be relevant to the ultimate determination of how the product would be classified by the FDA.

C. Product Name

Perhaps the factor most easily used to steer a product toward one classification or the other, the FDA attaches great significance to a liquid product's name in determining how that product should be regulated. According to the guidelines: "In some instances, the mere use of such a term in a product name or brand name may be sufficient to establish that the product is represented for use as a conventional food." The guidelines also make clear the FDA view that product or brand names which use conventional food terms such as "beverage" "drink" water or "soda" represent the product as a beverage. Presumably, this has considerable implications for the ultimate classification of the aforementioned energy drinks, a number of which use the word "drink" on the front of the can, even though they are marketed as supplements. This would appear inconsistent with the FDA view that conventional food terms such as "drink" strongly suggest that the product is a beverage.

D. Packaging

Undeniably, packaging can convey a message about how a product is intended to be used. For the FDA, relevant factors include size, shape, color, the volume of liquid it holds, and whether it is resealable or designed such that it can only be consumed as a single serving. Similarity to other types of packaging is also important. For example despite the use of the word "supplement" in its name, the guidelines suggest that a liquid product packaged "in a red, 12 ounce pop-top aluminum can bearing a silver stripe with the name 'Cola Supplement' printed on the can" is likely a beverage.¹³

E. Serving Size and Recommended Daily Intake

This factor relies on survey data indicating that the average American adult consumes 1.2 liters of fluids other than water in a day for the purpose of nutrition or hydration,. Liquid products that suggest that they are intended to be consumed in amounts that approach that assumed daily intake are presenting themselves as beverages. The emphasis here is that beverages are products intended to wholly replace the source of that 1.2 liters such that a product whose packaging states "Drink up to three 16-ounce bottles per day" is classified as a beverage. Conversely, liquids that suggest consumption at far lower levels than 1.2 liters daily present themselves as supplements. Consider how many "energy shots" a consumer would need to drink in order to reach 1.2 liters in a day.

F. Recommendations and Directions for Use

Dietary supplements, to risk oversimplification, are intended to supplement diet. Ideally, the directions for use that accompany a supplement would state that they should be used in conjunction with conventional food or drink. In contrast, beverages are intended to quench thirst or provide a source of fluids (water) or provide nutritive value (orange juice/milk) or simply just taste good (hot chocolate). Recommendations for use that appeal to one of these factors make it more likely that a product is a beverage.

G. Marketing Practices

Encompassing more than just advertising claims, the focus with this factor is on other ways of positioning a product in the marketplace, such as sponsorships and product placement. It also includes meta-tagging, where a supplement, for example, appears in internet search results for beverages. In describing how marketing practices can affect the classification of a product as a beverage or a supplement, the FDA appears to place a strong emphasis on whether and how the product is compared to "traditional" forms of beverages or supplements in the producer's marketing efforts. Marketing practices that are traditionally associated with products in one category can help determine whether a new product that follows those traditional practices is a food or supplement. Yet, this is potentially one of the most confounding factors discussed in the FDA guidelines.

Take the case of a liquid designed to replace orange juice. If marketed as a more efficient way of obtaining Vitamin C and other nutrients found in orange juice, that would tend to suggest that the FDA considers that product a supplement. If marketing for that product includes mention of rehydration or thirst quenching, however, the same product might be considered a beverage. If the producer of a new liquid supplement began to post window and store displays and install branded cooler units in stores that sold its product, similar to those offered by soft drink companies, it is very possible that adopting the marketing practices of those companies could be taken as a suggestion that the product is a beverage and not a supplement. Even a decision as to where in the store the product is intended to be available, could, under this factor, be dispositive of whether the FDA would view this product as being marketed as a beverage as opposed to a dietary supplement.

H. Composition

The lone factor that deals with the actual make-up of the product. The guidelines concede the complexity involved with this factor, because there are undeniable areas of overlap in terms of the ingredients in foods and supplements. However, the FDA maintains that the overlap "is not intended to be total...[it] would strain common sense to authoriz[e] the creation of a dietary supplement whenever any dietary ingredient is added to a conventional food."¹⁴

It appears that the FDA's concern here is that, without considering composition, manufacturers might attempt to evade GRAS requirements for foods simply by adding an inconsequential dietary ingredient to a product that would otherwise be classified as a traditional food or beverage. Likewise, they are mindful that certain dietary ingredients that may lawfully be added to supplements may not be lawfully added to foods. For example, those that are not in conformity with food or color additive regulations.

As is the case with most of the factors discussed in the FDA Guidance, the composition factor leaves manufacturers, consumers and regulators with surprisingly little clarity as to how it is to be integrated with the other seven factors to determine the appropriate classification of a liquid product as a beverage or a diet supplement, especially when those other seven factors deal with seemingly intangible interpretations of marketing, packaging, or advertising practices. What is the concentration of dietary ingredients in the overall composition for a product that will qualify

7

that product as a supplement? Is the relative concentration of dietary ingredients in the overall composition of the product more or less important than the manner in which dietary ingredients are emphasized in packaging or marketing? If how a product is marketed or advertised outweighs the product's actual composition, why consider composition at all? Are there products that would qualify as foods or supplements no matter what their packaging says or how the product is marketed and promoted? Far more questions than answers present themselves when this factor is integrated into the test.

V. GUIDANCE OR A RECIPE FOR CONFUSION?

One of the most striking features of the FDA's approach to this issue, as exemplified by the "guidance" discussed above, is how elastic the guidelines appear to be, especially when one tries to integrate them in an attempt to determine whether a particular liquid will be deemed by the FDA and consumers as a beverage or a supplement. Many of the factors identified by the FDA involve factual scenarios that can change quickly, particularly given the fact that the interpretation of many factors will be governed by how the product under consideration compares to other "traditional" products in the context of its promotion, package form, size and labeling, and even its placement in a particular store. With such an emphasis on marketing factors, it is not an exaggeration to say that, under the FDA's stated approach, a beverage is one advertising claim or store shelf away from becoming a supplement, and vice versa.

The absence of a meaningfully definitive set of guidelines on the distinction between beverages and supplements also limits the utility of seeking advice from the FDA prior to introducing a new product, new packaging, or prior to undertaking new marketing initiatives. Even if a producer "preclears" a product or a marketing campaign with the FDA, these guidelines make it difficult if not impossible to determine how a business driven change with respect to any of the factors might tip the scales of an FDA analysis in a different direction such that any comfort derived from the FDA's prior advice would be lost.

Moreover, given the current litigation environment involving food and supplement products in which a single word or phrase can give rise to class action claims that a product is being "falsely" marketed or sold, the current FDA guidelines will provide little guidance to courts in determining the merits of those claims, and will likely result in conflicting rulings based on varying interpretations of the FDA's stated criteria.

If "foods" can become "supplements" based on how they are packaged, labeled, marketed or placed within a store, as opposed to the composition and relative concentration of their ingredients, any benefit to maintaining food/supplement "distinction" becomes highly questionable. Indeed, if the actual content of a product is less important to the distinction between foods and supplements than the manner in which a product is sold, the distinction is more ephemeral than it would appear, especially in the context of informing consumers.

The FDA recognizes the need to provide clear and informative information about food products as demonstrated by the recently revised rules for the information to be disclosed in the "Nutrition

Facts" panel, yet there is a different set of disclosure requirements regarding the labeling for supplements. Given the plethora of ingredients now used in both food and supplement products and the blurred lines regarding a consumer's reasons for choosing a particular food or supplement product, it seems that the best approach is for the nature and extent of ingredient disclosures to be the same for all products that fall within those two categories.

While there are undoubtedly some nutrition industry manufacturers who see the mutability of the FDA standards as providing flexibility in permitting them to classify their products based upon how they choose to advertise and promote them, the uncertainty inherent in the FDA guidelines also carries no small share of risk. Every misapplication of the food/supplement distinction yields a misbranded product, and with that not only FDA action, but also a potential class action lawsuit.

VI. IT IS TIME TO ELIMINATE THE FOOD/SUPPLEMENT DISTINCTION

The ambiguity and uncertainty inherent in the FDA's recent Guidance requires one to question whether there is any value at all to making a regulatory distinction between "foods" and "dietary supplements." A single uniform standard will give consumers clarity with respect to the nutritional content of what they purchase or consume, and will provide suppliers with a clear set of guidelines for their products that are based on content as opposed to intangible subjective interpretation of their marketing intent.

In the alternative, if the FDA continues to insist on maintaining a distinction between foods and supplements, it should establish a fundamental distinction that enables consumers and manufacturers to discern a meaningful difference between products in these categories — based on the ingredients they contain and their relative nutritional content as opposed to marketing techniques and comparison to other products. At a minimum, there should be uniformity with respect to ingredient and nutrition labeling so that consumers can make informed decisions.

Without eliminating what is likely an unnecessary distinction between foods and supplement or providing a concrete basis to define those products and maintain a distinction, the current Guidance is likely to engender more confusion for consumers and manufacturers than it purports to resolve.

ENDNOTES

- 1. FDA Guidance for Industry: Distinguishing Liquid Dietary Supplements from Beverages, p. 1-2 (January 2014).
- 2. 21 U.S.C. §321(f)(1).
- 3. 21 U.S.C. §321(ff).
- 4. 21 U.S.C. 343(r)(1)(B).
- 5. 21 U.S.C. §321(ff)(3)(b)(2).

- 6. 21 U.S.C. §379(aa)(b)(1).
- 7. 21 CFR 101.36(b)(2)(i)-(3); 21 CFR 101.4(h), 21 CFR 101.36(d)-(d)(1); 21 CFR 101.9.
- 8. 21 U.S.C. §348; 21 CFR 170.30.
- 9. 21 U.S.C. §321(f).
- 10. 21CFR182.1180.
- 11. FDA Guidance for Industry: Considerations Regarding Substances Added to Foods, Including Beverages and Dietary Supplements, p. 1-2 (January 2014).
- 12. Id. at p. 3.
- 13. Id. at p. 3.
- 14. ld. at p. 4.

//

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Michael Gruver is a Senior Associate in Kaye Scholer's Complex Commercial Litigation Department and a member of the firm's Product Liability Practice in New York. He is an experienced litigator who represents and advises clients in all types of mass tort, product liability, patent, and commercial litigations and investigations. He can be reached at michael.gruver@kayescholer.com.

Glenn Pogust is Special Counsel in Kaye Scholer's Complex Commercial Litigation Department and a member of the Product Liability Practice in New York. He focuses his practice on the defense of manufacturers of a wide variety of products in personal injury and property damage cases, as well as cases involving product performance or malfunction claims that do not involve injury. He can be reached at glenn.pogust@kayescholer.com.

10

ABOUT THE FOOD AND DRUG POLICY FORUM

FDLI's Food and Drug Policy Forum provides a marketplace for the exchange of policy ideas regarding food and drug law issues. The Forum welcomes articles on cutting-edge state, national and international policy issues related to food and drug law.

FDLI's Food and Drug Policy Forum is designed to provide a venue for the presentation of information, analysis and policy recommendations in these areas food, drugs, animal drugs, biologics, cosmetics, diagnostics, dietary supplements, medical devices and tobacco.

Each issue of the Forum presents an important policy topic in the form of a question, provides background information and detailed discussion of the issues involved in the policy question, relevant research, pertinent sources and policy recommendations. This publication is digital-only, peer-reviewed and smartphone enabled.

The Forum is published biweekly (24 times a year) and is provided as a complimentary benefit to FDLI members, and by subscription to members of associations on the Forum Editorial Advisory Board and non-members. Individual issues of the Forum are also available for separate purchase.

The 24-member Food and Drug Policy Forum Editorial Advisory Board, comprised of eight representatives of leading associations interested in food and drug law issues and 16 food and drug and healthcare professionals, provides peer review and guidance on articles considered for publication in the Forum.

ABOUT FDLI

The Food and Drug Law Institute, founded in 1949, is a non-profit organization that provides a marketplace for discussing food and drug law issues through conferences, publications and member interaction. FDLIs' scope includes food, drugs, animal drugs, biologics, cosmetics, diagnostics, dietary supplements, medical devices and tobacco. As a not-for-profit 50l(c)(3) organization, FDLI does not engage in advocacy activities.

FDLI's Mission is to provide education, training, and publications on food and drug law; act as a liaison to promote networking as a means to develop professional relationships and idea generation; and ensure an open, balanced marketplace of ideas to inform innovative public policy, law, and regulation.

In addition to the Forum, FDLI publishes the quarterly, peer-reviewed Food and Drug Law Journal presenting in-depth scholarly analysis of food and drug law developments; Update magazine, which provides members with concise analytical articles on cutting-edge food and drug issues; the FDLI Monograph Series, an annual six-publication set of practical guides on contemporary food and drug law topics, and numerous comprehensive new books each year.